3

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J.C. Nicholson
Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2012-CP-10-8372
Appellate Case No. 2014-002450

Hattie Mae Greene Appellant

v.

Cindy M. Floyd Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. Cravens Ravenel
Baker, Ravenel & Bender, L.L.P.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 400
Post Office Box 8057
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Phone: (803) 799-9091
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED
APR 21 2015
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY CONCLUDING THAT THE FAMILY COURT DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO GRANT APPELLANT THE RELIEF THAT HER EXPERT SOUGHT?
- II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE EVIDENCE PROVIDED TO THE COURT THROUGH AFFIDAVITS AND THE DEPOSITION OF APPELLANT'S EXPERT WITNESS DID NOT CONSTITUTE A SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT NEGLIGENCE OR CAUSATION?
- III. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT MR. SULLIVAN'S BELATED SUPPLEMENTARY AFFIDAVIT WAS A SHAM AFFIDAVIT?
- IV. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF'S EXPERT'S SUPPLEMENTARY AFFIDAVIT, EVEN IF ENTITLED TO CONSIDERATION, LACKED SUBSTANCE BECAUSE IT WAS "CONTRARY" TO CONTROLLING PRECEDENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This legal malpractice action arises from the representation by Respondent, Cindy M. Floyd ("Floyd") of Hattie Mae Greene, Appellant, in her divorce from her then husband, Joseph Greene, a gunnery sergeant in the United States Marine Corp.

Joseph Greene enlisted in the Marine Corp. in 1978. Sergeant Greene served in Saudi Arabia and Mogadishu during the Gulf War supporting an artillery unit in the invasion of Kuwait. Sergeant Greene served a total of twenty years in the Marine Corp. (See Deposition of Joseph Greene R. pp. 271-319)

As a result of his military service, Sergeant Greene sustained undiagnosed hearing loss and post traumatic stress disorder. Sergeant Greene did not disclose these conditions to his then spouse, Appellant herein, despite having hearing problems and experiencing nightmares during the marriage. (R. pp. 296-303)

Following the divorce in 2002, the Veterans Administration in 2009/2010 diagnosed Sergeant Green with a hearing loss and post traumatic stress disorder and assigned a 10% disability for the hearing loss and a 30% disability for the post traumatic stress disorder despite his fulltime employment at the South Carolina Department of Corrections where he has worked for almost fifteen years. (R. pp. 288-291)

Joseph Greene, following the Veterans Administration finding of a 40% disability, applied for and received Veterans Administration disability benefits. (R. pp. 288-291)

Appellant married Joseph Greene on October 17, 1981. (R. p. 96, lines 2-3) Joseph Greene enlisted in the U.S. Marine Corp. on May 7, 1978 and retired in 1998 and was divorced from Appellant in 2002. (R. pp. 96-97). Of his twenty years of service, Joseph Greene was married to Appellant for seventeen years. (R. p. 96, lines 16-18)

During discovery and the trial of the divorce action, Respondent failed to question Joseph Greene about any potential disability issue (R. pp. 194-206) and failed to ask the court for a provision in the divorce decree that was recommended by the South Carolina Bar Continuing Legal Education material published as "Hot Tips from the Best Domestic Practitioners" in the September 2000 issue and in the "Cool Tips from the Best Domestic Relations Practitioners" May 2000 issue. (R. pp. 480-508)

Respondent has no recollection of discussing with her client of how subsequent discovery of service connected disability of the military spouse affect Mrs. Greene's award of military retirement or of seeking an agreement with counsel for Joseph Greene that would protect her client should Joseph Greene apply for and receive a Veterans

Administration disability rating after a division of military retirement. (Deposition of Cindy Floyd, R. pp. 241-260)

“Hot Tips” September 15, 2000 issue proposed “sample language to be used in a Decree or Agreement relating to military retirement and disability.” (emphasis mine) which would more likely than not have avoided the significant loss experienced by the wife of a seventeen year marriage when Sergeant Greene applied for and received Veterans Administration disability benefits in 2011. (R. pp. 493-508)

When Joseph Greene was awarded Veterans Administration disability after the divorce, for each dollar of Veterans Administration disability received by Joseph Greene, a dollar was forfeited from the military retirement which had been divided by the family court order granting Appellant 60% of Joseph Greene’s military retired pay.

Respondent prepared the order that dealt with the division of James Greene’s military retirement and did not propose to the court the provision recommended in the September 15, 2000 South Carolina Bar publication entitled “Hot Tips from the Best Domestic Law Practitioners” wherein, the sample language to be used in a decree or agreement relating to military retirement included a provision that reads “If the Husband takes any action that prevents, decreases or limits the receipt by the Wife of the sums to be paid herein from the appropriate military pay center...by application for award of...disability compensation...he shall make payments to the Wife directly in an amount sufficient to neutralize, as to the Wife, the effect of the action taken by the Husband.” (See Hot Tips and Cool Tips at R. pp. 480-508)

Appellant contends that Respondent’s failure to seek a provision in the order of the court that provided for indemnification should Appellant’s spouse take any action that

prevents, decreases or limits the receipt by the Appellant of the sums to be paid from a division of military retirement so as to neutralize any loss, as to the Appellant, or to argue to the Court for alimony in an amount that would protect Appellant from the automatic reduction in her share of retirement benefits if her then former spouse was awarded Veterans Administration disability benefits constitute legal malpractice.

Appellant's expert stated in an affidavit dated October 31, 2013 that if facts such as existed in the instant case were presented to the court that to a reasonable degree of certainty the court would have granted relief for Appellant in the form of an indemnification clause and, if denied, Respondent should have advised Appellant to appeal. (R. pp. 458-466) While the South Carolina cases cited below stand for the proposition that absent agreement Veterans Administration disability payments are not subject to the claims of a non-military spouse, Appellant contends that, if asked, the Court would have more likely than not included a provision in any divorce decree which divided military retirement that if the military spouse took unilateral action after the divorce that reduces the amount the non-military spouse has been awarded the military spouse must indemnify her. (See Cool Tips and Hot Tips at R. pp. 480-505; and Affidavit and Supplementary Affidavit of Sullivan R. pp. 458-470)

Appellant's expert reiterated in a supplementary affidavit dated July 21, 2014 that his affidavit of October 31, 2012 was accurate and that more likely than not a trial judge would have granted the relief requested in order to avoid the unilateral reduction of the court's division of military retirement. (R. pp. 467-470)

Evidence of Respondent's (A) failure to conduct discovery; (B) failure to explain to Appellant that without an agreement or order, the division of military retirement was

subject to unilateral extra judicial reduction by the military spouse; (C) failure to advise Appellant of the potential impact of post divorce disability; and (D) failure to incorporate the language proposed by the Family Law Division of the South Carolina Bar into the supplemental order that Respondent prepared established fact issues that prevent the court from granting summary judgment.

Appellant offered evidence in the form of the two (2) affidavits and the deposition testimony of her expert which created a fact issue on the question of whether the court, had it been asked by the Respondent, would have included an indemnification clause as part of the order dividing the military retirement requiring indemnification by Appellant's spouse should the spouse take action to reduce the amount of the award by the family court and had the court refused, Appellant's expert asserted Respondent was required to appeal. The court instead ruled as a matter of law that despite Appellant's expert witness affidavits and any conflict that may have existed between those affidavits and deposition testimony that no issue of fact existed and found as a matter of law that Appellant failed to state a claim.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent held herself out as a domestic relations lawyer with experience in representing clients in domestic actions in which the dissolution of a military marriage and the division of marital assets was a focus. (R. pp. 213-270)

Appellant was the spouse of Joseph Greene, an E-7 Gunnery Sergeant in the U.S. Marine Corp., for seventeen years out of the total twenty years of military service by Joseph Greene. Prior to his retirement he was married to Appellant.

Respondent represented Appellant at the final hearing on May 14, 2002 on Appellant's entitlement to a final order of separate support and maintenance. Hattie Mae Greene v. Joseph Greene, in the County of Dorchester, State of South Carolina, in the Family Court 01-012-18-0124. (R. pp. 86-212, 476-479, 213-270)

Following the hearing, the Court took the matter under advisement and on November 5, 2002 Respondent drafted a proposed "Supplemental Order, Division of Military Retired Pay" and submitted it to the trial judge, The Honorable William J. Wylie, Jr., and copied counsel for Appellant's spouse, Joseph Greene. (See Respondent's Deposition at R. pp. 213-270)

This proposed order was signed by The Honorable William J. Wylie, Jr., Judge, Family Court of the First Judicial Circuit on November 8, 2002, awarding Appellant "60% of defendant's military retired pay." (See R. pp. 476-479)

At the time this order was signed, the Family Court bar was aware that absent an agreement, if the military spouse, post divorce and after division of military retirement, applied for and was awarded Veterans Administration disability those payments would reduce dollar-for-dollar the military retirement previously divided 60/40 between Appellant and her military spouse.

Respondent did not include or seek in the proposed supplemental order dividing Joseph Greene's military retirement, a provision that should the military spouse ever take the unilateral extra judicial action available to him that prevented, decreased or limited the collection by Appellant her court award of Joseph Greene's military retirement reducing the amount of monthly benefit her 60% award would generate he would be

obligated to make payments to the wife directly in an amount sufficient to neutralize, as to the wife, the effects of the action taken. (R. pp. 476-479)

Respondent failed to identify any discovery that she conducted would have revealed the symptoms of loss of hearing and post-traumatic stress disorder that Joseph Greene was experiencing during the marriage and which formed the basis for Joseph Greene's successful request for Veterans Administration disability which resulted in a finding by the Veterans Administration of a 40% disability, 10% for hearing loss and 30% for Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, but which Joseph Greene admitted existed during the marriage. (R. pp. 312-313)

Respondent failed to identify evidence of any effort to argue for a provision in the Supplemental Order Division of Military Retired Pay that would require the military spouse to make payments directly to the non-military spouse in an amount equal to any reduction caused by the military spouse successful application for Veterans Administration disability. (R. pp. 86-212; 476-479)

When a non-military spouse obtains an order dividing the military spouse's military retired pay such a division is subject to change if the military spouse applies for and is awarded Veterans Administration disability payments. See Price v. Price, 325 S.C. 379, 480 S.E.2d 92 (1996); Tirada v. Tirada, 339 S.C. 649, 530 S.E.2d 128 (2000).

For each dollar of any subsequent Veterans Administration disability award the military retirement previously divided between Appellant and Sergeant Greene was reduced by a dollar so that Appellant's 60% award of Joseph Greene's military retirement became 60% of a markedly lower sum without a notice to or involvement by Appellant.

Appellant was not advised by her lawyer, the Respondent, that a subsequently diagnosed disability of Joseph Greene that Joseph Greene then unilaterally applied for and for which he was awarded Veterans Administration disability payment had the automatic result of reducing the monthly payments that Appellant was awarded by the Family Court in its division of military retirement. (R. pp. 213-268)

Appellant was not advised by Respondent that she would not have any standing to challenge a reduction of her award of monthly retirement benefits if the Veterans Administration approved a finding of disability for which he claimed and was granted Veterans Administration disability payments. (R. pp. 86-212; 213-268)

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

I. **THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY CONCLUDING THAT THE FAMILY COURT DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO GRANT APPELLANT THE RELIEF THAT HER EXPERT SOUGHT?**

Respondent owed Appellant a duty to exercise the competence and diligence normally exercised by lawyers in similar circumstances. *The Law Governing Lawyers* § 52, The Standard of Care. Respondent's failure to exercise competence in this action by failing to explain to Appellant the risks in the action taken and by failing to conduct discovery that would have identified and quantified the risk and given Appellant an effective argument to convince the trial court to include a provision like that suggested in the South Carolina Bar publication *Hot Tips and Cool Tips from the Best Domestic Law Practitioners* for inclusion in any order dividing military retirement benefits constituted malpractice. See deposition of Respondent (R. pp. 213-268) wherein she acknowledges the following:

The following appears in the deposition of Respondent:

Q Did you discuss this with your client?

A Discuss what?

Q The potential for the amount awarded by the court to change, by virtue of the language chosen, to describe what was being divided?

A I don't recall discussing that with her, but we're working on 10 year-old memories.

(R. p. 243, lines 4-10)

When asked whether she "proposed language that would have taken care of this issue and it was resisted by the other side", Respondent testified, "I honestly don't recall . . ." (R. p. 244, lines 12-15)

When Respondent was asked if she had a recollection of explaining the impact of a future disability of her military spouse to Appellant, Respondent's response was that she did not remember. (R. pp. 245-246)

Respondent testified that her choice of language in the final supplemental order dividing military retirement was based on information she received at a seminar. (R. pp. 246-247)

Respondent further testified that she could not incorporate language into the supplemental order she prepared because of "the Family Court's lack of jurisdiction over the matter." (R. p. 247, lines 9-16)

Q Did you discuss with Mrs. Greene the potential of how . . . later disability could impact the ruling of the court?

A I don't recall discussing that with her.

Q That's not your normal routine in these military matters?

A Not if its not brought to my attention There was not indication that he was . . . had any physical problems back then.

Q . . . You didn't discuss it with Mrs. Greene?

A I certainly don't remember discussing it with her.

Q Were you aware of the military background of Mr. Green? In other words, where he had served, was he in combat zones or anything like that?

A I knew he had been in the military. I didn't know anything else about his service.

Q Did you ask about whether or not he had any disabilities or whether he had served in combat zones or anything like that?

A I don't think I asked whether he served in combat zones. At the trial, I did ask about his health and I, my recollection is, . . . he was in good health, and I don't recall Mrs. Greene telling me about any physical problems or health problems he had."

Q Were you aware of the possible reduction of Mrs. Greene's portion of the retirement of Mr. Greene in the event of disability?

A "That is the way the law works."

Q "But were you aware of it?"

A "I was aware. I was aware of the law."

Q "Did you discuss it with Mrs. Green?"

A "I don't recall discussing that particular issue with Mrs. Greene."

(R. pp. 249-256)

During Respondent's representation of Appellant she did not conduct a discovery deposition of Appellant's spouse, Joseph Greene, and she limited her examination of Mr. Greene in the May 14, 2002 hearing seeking an order of separate support and maintenance to issues of fault in the marriage breakup and no inquiry was made that was directed at disclosure of the medical history and the then current condition of Joseph Greene. (See R. pp. 194-205)

Q But did you know what impact disability payments would have on the amount Mrs. Greene received, should a disability develop?

A In general, I had that knowledge.

Q Did you talk to Mrs. Greene about that?

A I don't recall talking to her about that. But she never mentioned any . . . anything about having any physical disabilities

Mark E. Sullivan at R. pp. 458-466 in which Sullivan asserts in an affidavit that Respondent failed to protect Appellant by seeking an indemnification clause, failure to educate the judge about Veterans Administration disability issues and the need for indemnification and for a request for such a provision. Sullivan further asserts in his affidavit that within a reasonable degree of certainty, that the court would have granted relief to Appellant in the form of an indemnification agreement. (R. pp. 467-470) Mark E. Sullivan's Supplementary Affidavit asserts that more likely than not the trial court would have provided a remedy for any unilateral post-divorce reduction of military retired pay due to rules governing Veteran Administration waivers.

Respondent's expert witness, Joseph Todd Manley, testified that service in the U.S. Marine Corp. in Iraq and Kuwait would be places of combat and that it is reasonable

to assume that the stress of service in those areas could develop into disabling conditions. (R. pp. 340-341)

Respondent's expert further characterized a failure to discuss the potential for a reduction of the amount received by the non-military spouse from a division of military retirement by a later award of Veterans Administration disability benefits to the military spouse as potentially falling below the standard of care owed to the non-military spouse by her lawyer. (R. pp. 364-371)

Respondent's expert witness further testified that when the divorce decree was drafted and presented to Respondent that she would have automatically have recognized that it was subject to a reduction by future disability and that information should have been given to Respondent's client. (R. pp. 362-363)

Appellant's expert provided credible evidence that Respondent was negligent in her representation of Appellant and that her negligence proximately resulted in foreseeably exposing Appellant to financial loss. (R. pp. 458-470)

Appellant's expert provided credible evidence that based upon State and Federal decisions throughout the United States including South Carolina, that competent military family law practitioners were or should have been aware that the non-military spouse of a military spouse was entitled to a portion of the military spouse's retirement benefits which were subject to division as family property while simultaneously being subject to a post-divorce reduction in the event the former military spouse requested and received Veterans Administration disability benefits and should have provided/sought protection of the non-military spouse in the proposed order of separate support and maintenance that she prepared. (R. pp. 458-470)

Appellant's expert affidavits provided credible evidence that competent members of the bar practicing in the family court in South Carolina were aware of the financial risk posed to the non-military spouse when the non-military spouse accepted a division of the military spouse's retirement as a significant feature of any division of marital financial assets and were also aware of the available language needed in any agreement or order necessary to protect the non-military spouse. (R. pp. 458-470)

II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE EVIDENCE PROVIDED TO THE COURT THROUGH AFFIDAVITS AND THE DEPOSITION OF APPELLANT'S EXPERT WITNESS DID NOT CONSTITUTE A SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT NEGLIGENCE OR CAUSATION?

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