5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED
APR 29 2015
SC Court of Appeals

The Hónorable J.C. Nicholson
Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2012-CP-10-8372
Appellate Case No.: 2014-002450

Hattie Mae Greene Appellant,

v.

Cindy M. Floyd Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr.
Alissa D. Fleming
Jeffrey M. Bogdan
Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms, LLC
Post Office Drawer H
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 577-7700
Attorneys for Respondent

April 28, 2015
Charleston, South Carolina

Other Counsel of Record:

D. Cravens Ravenel
Baker, Ravenel & Bender, LLC
Post Office Box 8057
Columbia, SC 29202

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

III. Summary of Arguments

It is well understood among Family Court practitioners that some military benefits are subject to equitable distribution and others are not. At issue in this case is whether Attorney Floyd, an experienced Family Court practitioner, could or should have persuaded a judge to include a provision in his Order in a contested case requiring Plaintiff's ex-husband to pay her a portion of future military disability compensation that he might receive. The parties could have negotiated for such a provision in a consent decree, but a court does not have the power to award an ex-spouse any part of a retired serviceperson's military disability compensation. This was a contested case. Plaintiff's ex-husband had no known disability at the time of their divorce, but he was a serial adulterer, which led to a hotly contested trial over property distribution. Attorney Floyd obtained an excellent result in the trial, persuading the judge to award Plaintiff sixty percent of her ex-husband's military retirement pay. The Court did not -- and could not -- order that she receive any part of disability compensation that he might in the future become eligible and elect to receive in lieu of retirement pay.

Attorney Floyd is entitled to summary judgment because she could not have been negligent for failing to ask for a benefit for her client that the Court could not award. Further, even if a question of fact existed as to whether Attorney Floyd should have asked the Court to award this benefit, Plaintiff cannot offer a scintilla of competent evidence that such a request would have resulted in a more favorable award.

ARGUMENTS

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, an appellate court employs “the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56, SCRCP.” Roe v. Bibby, 410 S.C. 287, 763 S.E.2d 645 (S.C. App. 2014) (citing Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Coffey, 404 S.C. 421, 425, 746 S.E.2d 35, 37 (2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). Rule 56, SCRCP, provides the trial court shall grant summary judgment if “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRCP. “In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Roe v. Bibby, *supra* (citing Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty. of Richland, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010)).

Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See Rule 56(c), SCRCP. See also Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009) (“[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.”); David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006) (“In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.”).

B. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THE FAMILY COURT IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION LACKED THE POWER TO AWARD PLAINTIFF ANY PORTION OF HER EX-HUSBAND'S DISABILITY COMPENSATION AND ATTORNEY FLOYD COULD NOT HAVE BEEN NEGLIGENT FOR FAILING TO OBTAIN THIS RELIEF

Attorney Floyd obtained an extraordinarily favorable result for the Plaintiff in a hotly contested case, convincing the Court to award her sixty percent of her husband's retirement pay. Federal law is clear that the Court could not have awarded the Plaintiff what she now wants, equitable division of her husband's future disability compensation. Attorney Floyd cannot have been negligent for failing to convince the Court to do what it could not do.

In this appeal, Plaintiff argues that the lower court erred in entering summary judgment on behalf of Attorney Floyd based upon the clear legal precedent establishing that the Family Court in the underlying action did not have the power to grant Plaintiff the relief that her expert says Attorney Floyd should have demanded on her behalf. For the reasons that follow, the trial court properly concluded that Plaintiff failed to offer a scintilla of evidence that Defendant breached a duty of care owed to the Plaintiff.

It is well settled in South Carolina that "in order to prevail in a cause of action for legal malpractice, the plaintiff must prove (1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship, (2) a breach of duty by the attorney, (3) damage to the client, and (4) proximate cause of the client's damages by the breach. See Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC, 390 S.C. 275, 282, 701 S.E.2d 742, 745 (2010)(citing Rydde v. Morris, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). The plaintiff must prove that she "most probably would have been successful in the underlying suit if the attorney had not committed the alleged malpractice." Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 42, 492 S.E.2d 55, 58 (1997); see also Doe v. Howe, 367 S.C. 432, 442, 626 S.E.2d 25, 30 (Ct. App. 2005).

The question of the likelihood of success in the underlying claim, if the attorney had done as the plaintiff alleges she should have done, is a question of law. See Manning v. Quinn, 294 S.C. 383, 386, 365 S.E.2d 24, 25 (1988) (holding in a legal malpractice case that the likelihood of success of action that the plaintiff alleged the defendant should have taken was a question of law “and decision of that question on summary judgment motion is appropriate”); Doe v. Howe, 367 S.C. at 442, 626 S.E.2d at 30. Here, Plaintiff has not produced a scintilla of evidence that she would have been more successful in the underlying action had Attorney Floyd not committed the alleged malpractice.

The law is clear that the Family Court in the underlying action lacked the power to grant Plaintiff the relief that her expert claims Attorney Floyd should have demanded on her behalf. The United States Supreme Court, in Mansell v. Mansell, 490 U.S. 581, 109 S.Ct. 2023, 104 L.Ed.2d 675 (1989), addressed the relationship between a retired serviceman’s retirement pay and disability benefits as follows:

Members of the Armed Forces who serve for a specified period, generally at least 20 years, may retire with retired pay. . . . Veterans who became disabled as a result of military service are eligible for disability benefits. . . . In order to prevent double dipping, a military retiree may receive disability benefits only to the extent that he waives a corresponding amount of his military retired pay. . . . Because disability benefits are exempt from federal, state, and local taxation, . . . military retirees who waive their retirement pay in favor of disability benefits increase their after-tax income. Not surprisingly, waivers of retirement pay are common.

490 U.S. 581, 583-84 (1989) (internal citations omitted).

The Uniform Services Former Spouses’ Protection Act (hereinafter “the Act”) authorizes state courts to treat “disposable retired pay” as marital property that can be divided upon a couples’ divorce or separation. 10 U.S.C. § 1408(c)(1); Mansell, 490 U.S. at 584. The Act defines “disposable retired pay” as total monthly retired pay minus certain

deductions, which deductions include any amount waived in order to receive disability benefits. 10 U.S.C. § 1408(a)(4)(B); Mansell, 490 U.S. at 585. Accordingly, the Supreme Court concluded that the Act “does not grant state courts the power to treat as property divisible upon divorce military retirement pay that has been waived to receive veterans’ disability benefits.” 490 U.S. at 594-95. The Mansell Court recognized the harsh result the Act could have on former spouses, yet declined to rule in opposition of Congress’ intent. Id.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals, in Price v. Price, 325 S.C. 379, 480 S.E.2d 92 (1996) recognized Mansell’s directive that “disability benefits may not be equitably divided in a divorce proceeding” and that “[w]hile the Act allows state courts to treat *disposable* retired pay as divisible property, courts do not have the authority to treat *total* retired pay as divisible property.” Price v. Price, 325 S.C. at 380, 480 S.E.2d at 92 n.2 (1996) (emphasis in original).

In her Brief, Plaintiff cites the affidavit of her expert – who is not licensed to practice law in South Carolina -- and a South Carolina Bar publication entitled *Hot Tips and Cool Tips from the Best Domestic Practitioners*, as the bases for her argument that Attorney Floyd should have requested the inclusion of an “indemnification clause” in the 2002 Order by the Family Court. An indemnification clause would require the military retiree to indemnify his former spouse in the event that his disposable retired pay should ever be reduced such that the spouse’s share of his total retired pay falls below an agreed-upon amount. Plaintiff’s argument overlooks the critical difference between a settlement and a contested proceeding. In a property settlement the parties are free to agree to whatever property division they want, and once approved by the Court the agreement is binding.

The Court of Appeals expressly so held in Price, supra.

In a contested case, however, the Court is bound by the law. In a settlement the Plaintiff's ex-husband could have agreed to give her part of his disability compensation, but the Court could not require him to do so in a contested proceeding. The *Hot Tips and Cool Tips* publication advocated negotiating for an indemnity provision in a consent settlement decree, not a contested court order. In fact, in her deposition, Attorney Floyd acknowledged her awareness of indemnification provisions in settlement agreements. Attorney Floyd testified:

Q: So you read Tirado and Price not to present you with an - - as a practitioner, not to present you with an opportunity to use language that will impact a later determination, as far as the court is concerned, about what benefits you're entitled to - - your client's entitled to?

A: The Price and Tirado cases were both concerning agreements. The Family Court has jurisdiction over agreements; it does not have any jurisdiction over the division of military disability pay.

(R. p. 240, line 21, p. 241, line 5.)

Inclusion of such a provision in a proposed Order to the Family Court in a contested matter would have been a transparent effort to circumvent the law. Neither Plaintiff nor her expert have cited any legal authority allowing a Family Court to require – directly or indirectly -- a military retiree to pay his ex-spouse any part of his disability compensation. Plaintiff's implicit claim, that Attorney Floyd should have tried to sneak such a provision into her proposed Order to the Family Court even though the judge did not order it, runs counter to an attorney's ethical duty of candor to the court. Attorney Floyd could not ethically "make a false statement of fact or law to a tribunal" or "fail to disclose to the tribunal legal authority in the controlling jurisdiction known to the lawyer to be directly

adverse to the position of the client and not disclosed by opposing counsel.” South Carolina Rule of Professional Conduct 3.3(a).

Attorney Floyd’s expert, Todd Manley, testified that such a request would have been contrary to the law. He testified:

Q: Could you request any specific language in a divorce decree - - not an agreement, but in a divorce decree - - that would provide protection from the eventually of a subsequent disability?

A: Could you? Sure. Can you, consistent with the law? No. You cannot. I would challenge whether or not that is without some ethical concerns, Rule 11 concerns, seeking relief from the court that you’re not entitled to as a matter of law.

(R. p. 326, line 19, p. 327, line 2.)

Based on the clear legal mandate of the Uniform Services Former Spouses’ Protection Act, as applied in Mansell and recognized in Price, the Plaintiff failed to establish that the Family Court had the power to award the relief requested such that she would have been successful in the underlying action. Therefore, this Court should affirm the lower court’s entry of summary judgment on behalf of Attorney Floyd.

C. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT EVEN IF ATTORNEY FLOYD BREACHED A LEGAL DUTY OWED TO THE PLAINTIFF, THAT BREACH WAS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF PLAINTIFF’S DAMAGES

In a legal malpractice action, a plaintiff must establish, usually by expert testimony, the standard of care, a breach, and that such breach was a proximate cause of the Plaintiff’s damages. See Harris Teeter v. Moore & Van Allen, 390 S.C. at 282, 701 S.E. 2d at 745 (citing Smith v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Guerard, 322 S.C. 433, 437-38, 472 S.E.2d 612, 614 (1996)). Proximate cause requires proof of causation in fact and legal cause. See Harris Teeter v. Moore & Van Allen, 390 S.C. at 290, 701 S.E.2d at 749 (citing Oliver v.

S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 309 S.C. 313, 316, 422 S.E.2d 128, 130 (1992)).

Causation in fact is proved by showing that plaintiff's injury or damages would not have occurred "but for" defendant's negligence. Id.

In order to succeed in this malpractice action, the Plaintiff would not only have to prove that Attorney Floyd breached her duty owed to the Plaintiff by failing to argue to and persuade the Family Court to include in its 2002 Order an indemnification clause or a division of "gross retired pay," but also that, had Attorney Floyd done so, such language would have most probably been included in the Order and the Plaintiff would have obtained a better result. In Harris Teeter v. Moore & Van Allen, supra, 390 S.C. at 290, 701 S.E.2d at 749-50, the Court affirmed summary judgment to the defendant attorney when one of the plaintiff's expert witnesses testified that, had defendant attorney not breached the standard of care, plaintiff's "percentage of success [in the underlying action] would have been greater," and plaintiff's other expert testified that it would be "speculation" as to whether the plaintiff would have been successful in the underlying action, and neither expert testified that the underlying action most probably would have had a better result if not for the defendant attorney's alleged malpractice. In Doe v. Howe, 367 S.C. 432, 445-46, 626 S.E.2d 25, 31-32(Ct. App. 2005), the Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment to the defendant attorney when the plaintiff's expert testified that plaintiff most probably would have been successful in certain aspects of the underlying action had defendant attorney not been negligent as alleged, but the expert failed to testify that plaintiff most probably would have obtained a better result in the underlying action had defendant attorney not been negligent as alleged. In other words, the Plaintiff must show that but for Attorney Floyd's failure to argue to and persuade the Family Court to include an indemnification clause in the 2002 Order or

advise her client to appeal, the Family Court would have included the clause in the Order or an appeal would have been successful.

Plaintiff identified Mark A. Sullivan as her expert to establish the standard of care and causation. Mr. Sullivan is an attorney licensed to practice law in North Carolina. (R. p. 377, lines 5-19.) He is not licensed in South Carolina. (R. p. 377, lines 7-15.) Mr. Sullivan posits that Attorney Floyd should have asked the family court to include an indemnification provision in its 2002 Order. (R. p. 411, line 5, p. 412, line 5.) He believes that Attorney Floyd deviated from the accepted standard of care by failing to ensure that the 2002 Order divided "gross retired pay." (R. p. 411, line 5, p. 412, line 5.) He also holds the opinion that Attorney Floyd deviated from the standard of care by failing to advise her client of the possibility for an appeal. (R. p. 430, line 5, p. 62, line 8.) However, Mr. Sullivan admitted that he cannot say whether Attorney Floyd could have persuaded the judge to include such a provision, or even whether it would be permissible under South Carolina law. Plaintiff relies upon the following testimony from Mr. Sullivan:

Q: Okay. Do you have any understanding of whether indemnification clauses are routinely adopted in court orders in South Carolina?

A: I don't have any understanding one way or the other.

(R. p. 417, lines 9-13.)

Q: Okay. Does the Family Court have jurisdiction to divide disability pay?

A: No, it does not.

Q: Is there any authority in South Carolina that supports your opinion for the inclusion of an indemnification clause in a final order of property division?

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